
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Candida Mckelvey, Democratic Services Officer  
 
Tel: 07895 213820 
 

 

E-mail: candida.mckelvey@southandvale.gov.uk 
 
Date: 9 July 2021 
 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 
 

 
 

AN INFORMAL MEETING OF 
 

Scrutiny Committee members 

 
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 19 JULY 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
This will be an informal meeting of committee members, and will be held as a virtual, online meeting. 
 
 
To watch this virtual meeting, follow this link to the council’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ  
 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 

Ian White (Chairman) 

Mocky Khan (Vice-Chair) 
Anna Badcock 
David Bartholomew 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 
 
 

Stefan Gawrysiak 
Alexandrine Kantor 
George Levy 
David Turner 

 
 

Substitutes 

Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Peter Dragonetti 
Kate Gregory 
Victoria Haval 
 

Lorraine Hillier 
Kellie Hinton 
Axel Macdonald 
Jo Robb 
 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 
Celia Wilson 
 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Apologies for absence   
 

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   
 
2  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

 
3  Urgent business and chair's announcements   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.   
 
4  Notes of the last informal meeting (Pages 3 - 5) 

 
To receive the notes of the informal meeting held on 24th May. Members to note the 
content. 
 
5  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.   
 
6  Work schedule and dates for South scrutiny meetings (Pages 6 - 10) 

 
To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are 
confirmed, the items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to or 
rearranged without further notice. 

 

REPORTS AND ISSUES FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS 

 
7  Financial Contributions in lieu of on-site delivery of affordable 

homes (Pages 11 - 38) 
 

To consider a report of the Head of Development and Regeneration. 
 

 
MARGARET REED 

Head of Legal and Democratic  

 

 

 
 



 1 

Notes 

 

OF AN INFORMAL MEETING OF 
  

Scrutiny Committee members 

 
HELD ON MONDAY 24 MAY 2021 AT 6.00 PM 
 
This meeting can be watched here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q6XRsnDptP0 
 

This was an informal, virtual meeting of committee members. 
 

Present: 
 
Ian White (Chair) 
Mocky Khan, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Stefan Gawrysiak, Alexandrine Kantor, George Levy, 
David Turner and David Bartholomew 
 

Apologies: 
 
Anna Badcock tendered apologies.  
 

Officers: 
 
Harry Barrington-Mountford, Candida Mckelvey, Adrianna Partridge. 
 

Also present:  
 
 Cabinet members, Councillors Andrea Powell and Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
 
  
 

9 Declarations of interest  
 
None. 
 

10 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
Chair ran through meeting procedure for this informal, virtual meeting. 
 

11 Public participation 
 

12 Work schedule and dates for all South scrutiny meetings  
 
Chair is keeping the task and finish group on green grants and home retrofitting skills on 
the work programme. The grants have been withdrawn but there may be future 
opportunities. Cllr Casey-Rerhaye explained that this will continue, joint scrutiny committee 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q6XRsnDptP0


 2 

were keen to continue investigating this topic, lessons can be learned from green grants 
and some interesting meetings have already been held (for example, with OxLEP). 
Officers intend to write a report on this in due course. 
There was no specific date to update the committee on the green grants task and finish 
joint scrutiny group. 
 
Cllr. Turner asked whether quarterly report dates will be given for performance 
management framework? Officer explained that these would be added after the Cabinet 
report is presented to Cabinet. More detail will be provided in the agenda item this 
evening. 
 
Committee members were informed that they will be informed of meeting format as soon 
as possible (formal/informal). 
 
Chair was keen to keep the flooding roles and responsibilities item on the agenda, starting 
with an all councillor briefing on the matter. Concerns are to be fleshed out and then the 
committee can focus appropriately. 
 
The work programme is kept under review by senior management team. Any concerns 
over readiness of reports (scheduled in the work programme) will be escalated to scrutiny 
chairs. 
 

13 Performance management framework and year 1 corporate 
delivery plan  
 
Cabinet member for corporate services, Councillor Andrea Powell, introduced the report. 
Comments were welcomed on this item. 
The planned new structured approach to performance management will ensure we can 
monitor progress on objectives with openness and accountability (a council commitment). 
We can focus our limited resources on areas needed or deemed a corporate priority and 
report with transparency. We may adjust activities in light of results. 

 Corporate plan is the strategic context. 

 Priority projects in the plan provide the operational parameters 

 SMT and Cabinet have been working to populate the year one delivery programme, 
and to identify appropriate measures and to ensure that the service teams are 
putting work plans in place and are engaged in the process. 

4 components to the report presented: 

 Paper to introduce the plan – context for the framework and year one delivery 
plan. 

 Draft framework - Approach, reporting timelines, the way in which applied at all 
levels – to ensure cohesion and accountability 

 Year one delivery plan – measures applied to projects, frequency of reporting 
and ownership. 

 Interim performance report – since October 2020. Work achieved so far in 
qualitative and quantitative measures. 
 

Focus of this meeting is on process not framework content – how do we roll out and 
monitor success? 
Cabinet member recognised the number of staff involved and the ownership. We won’t be 
burdening officers with too much monitoring that would negatively affect delivery. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



 3 

Statutory and operational KPIs will still continue to be collected but are outside of this 
framework. 
 
Comments made as follows: 

 Congratulations given on the work done.  

 Inclusion and diversity – felt the report was more accessible. Diversity 
communications plan is being developed. 

 Page 8 in the meeting pack – list of points, ranking based on a survey, it was 
discussed whether the quantitative values used could be shown. It was answered 
that the data is found in the published public engagement survey results. Other 
members felt that more quantitative data is not needed, but some clarification / 
context of the different priorities per council could be useful. 

 Page 9 – service teams setting goals – what is sign off procedure for goals? 
Cabinet members will be briefed on teams work. 

 Year one measures – how are all the different areas working on a priority pulled 
together and reported on, and how will it be scrutinised? E.g. delivery of new 
council homes. It was answered that there will be a headline report for each theme. 
Then the separate projects will be reported on. We are always looking to improve 
processes, and we may find technologies to support this, so you can drill down to 
specifics. 

 Will a diversity and inclusion champion be established? It was responded that the 
inclusion and diversity strategy is to be progressed, and adaptation of measures will 
happen as this progresses. Reference made to 0A3. 

 Mix of narrative and quantitative data provided and well explained. Well written 
report. 

 New measures will be used to define success and these will adapt as we progress, 
as appropriate. 

 Discussion over timeliness of reporting – how long will it take for reports to reach 
scrutiny, considering as reports can sometimes be 2 months after quarter end date? 
What target will be set? It was responded, as soon as is possible. Depends on 
schedule of meetings, resourcing and data availability. Chair added that scheduling 
of scrutiny meetings could change to fit reporting. We need to finalise the measures 
first, then aim for the first meeting in the next quarter. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 1 August 2021  Page 1  09/07/21 

Scrutiny work programme 
1 July 2021 

 
 
 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

Joint Scrutiny informal 
meeting 13 Jul 2021 
 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
 

To respond to the consultation 
draft plan   
 

Anne-Marie Simpson 
 

Adrian Duffield 
adrian.duffield@southand
vale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny informal 
meeting 19 Jul 2021 
 

Distribution/provision of 
social and affordable 
housing /payments 'in-
lieu' 
 

 
 

Robin Bennett 
 

Steve May 
Stephen.may@southandv
ale.gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 2021 
 

SABA car park contract 
review 
 

 
 

David Rouane 
 

John Backley 
john.backley@southandv
ale.gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 2021 
 

Community safety 
partnership report 
 

 
 

Cabinet member for 
housing and 
environment, and Didcot 
Garden Town 
 

Diane Foster 
diane.foster@southandva
le.gov.uk 
 

P
age 6

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.may@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.may@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 1 August 2021  Page 2  09/07/21 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 2021 
 

Biffa annual report 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

David Rouane 
 

Ian Matten 
ian.matten@southandval
e.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 20 
Sep 2021 
 

Didcot Gateway 
 

 
 

Robin Bennett 
 

Catrin Mathias 
catrin.mathias@southand
vale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 20 
Sep 2021 
 

Office accommodation 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell, Robin 
Bennett 
 

Adrianna Partridge 
adrianna.partridge@south
andvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 20 
Sep 2021 
 

Inter Authority 
Agreements 
 

 
 

 
 

Suzanne Malcolm and 
Adrianna Partridge 
 
adrianna.partridge@south
andvale.gov.uk 
 
Suzanne.malcolm@south
andvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 20 
Sep 2021 
 

Planning appeals 
 

To consider the annual report   
 

Anne-Marie Simpson 
 

Tracy Smith 
tracy.smith@southandval
e.gov.uk 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Suzanne.malcolm@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Suzanne.malcolm@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tracy.smith@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:tracy.smith@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 1 August 2021  Page 3  09/07/21 

Scrutiny Committee 20 
Sep 2021 
 

Q1 2021/22 performance 
management report 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell 
 

Harry Barrington-
Mountford 
 
harry.barrington-
mountford@southandvale
.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Items for future meetings (dates to be determined) 

 

Scrutiny Committee tbc 
 

Oxfordshire Electric 
Vehicle (EV) 
Infrastructure Strategy / 
EV Charging Points 
 

 
 

Sue Cooper 
 

Michelle Wells 
michelle.wells@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee tbc 
 

Public consultations 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell 
 

 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
tbc 

Communications 
strategy 
 

 
 

Andrea Powell 
 
 

 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
tbc 

Flooding - partnership 
roles and responsibilities 
 

 
 

 
 

Andrew Down 
andrew.down@southandv
ale.gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Didcot Garden Town - 
project update 
 

 
 

David Rouane 
 

Marybeth Harasz 
marybeth.harasz@southa
ndvale.gov.uk 
 

P
age 8

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.wells@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:michelle.wells@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:marybeth.harasz@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:marybeth.harasz@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 1 August 2021  Page 4  09/07/21 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Oxfordshire Growth 
Board - review outcome 
 

 
 

Sue Cooper 
 

Andrew Down 
andrew.down@southandv
ale.gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee January – 
March 2022 

GLL performance review  Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
Helen Pighills 

Melanie Smans 
melanie.smans@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Leisure strategy review 
 

 
 

 
Maggie Filipova-Rivers 

Melanie Smans 
melanie.smans@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Strategic property review 
 

 
 

Robin Bennett 
 

Catrin Mathias 
catrin.mathias@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Delivery of crematorium, 
graveyard or alternative 
provision 
 

To review provision over next 
20 years within the district   
 

Robin Bennett 
 

Catrin Mathias 
catrin.mathias@southand
vale.gov.uk 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6

mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk


MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council – Scrutiny work programme - 1 August 2021  Page 5  09/07/21 

 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 6



 

 
1 

 

Scrutiny Committee Report 

 

 
  
Report of Head of Development and Regeneration 

Author: Stephen May 

Telephone: 01235 422479 

Textphone:  

E-mail: stephen.may@southandvale.gov.uk 

Cabinet member responsible: Robin Bennett 

Tel: 01865 858680 

E-mail: robin.bennett@southoxon.gov.uk 

 

DATE: 19 July 2021 

 

 

 

Financial Contributions in lieu of on-

site delivery of affordable homes 

Purpose of Report 

1. To advise Committee on circumstances where affordable housing financial 
contributions might be accepted in accordance with planning policy requirements.   

2. To provide an overview of off-site commuted sums and viability appraisals, and the 
considerations which underpin the calculation of financial contributions. 

Background and Current Situation 

3. At a previous meeting of Scrutiny Committee in October 2020, Members 
expressed concern that any affordable housing financial contributions received 
from developers for off-site provision must be sufficient, and reflect full value for 
the council, to enable to provision of affordable homes through the use of the sums 
collected. This paper sets out the existing process and proposals to update the 
process.  

4. When considering planning applications for new development, we consider 
proposals against adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 Policy H9 and seek 
affordable housing on-site. However, there are circumstances where this is not 
possible, or planning guidance does not permit, and an off-site contribution is 
collected by the Council instead, for investment in affordable housing schemes 
elsewhere in the district. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



 

 
2 

 

5. The Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states at 
paragraph 62 that planning policies should specify the type of affordable housing 
required, and expect it to be met on-site unless:  

a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly 
justified; and 
 

b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and 
balanced communities. 
 

6. Local Plan Policy H9 seeks 40% affordable housing for all housing sites over 10 
dwellings or 0.5 hectare, and sets out that these should be delivered on-site. There 
are however some exceptions to delivering the affordable on-site, which are as 
follows: 

i. A financial contribution for off-site delivery is where sites deliver a ‘part unit’ 
of affordable housing. For example, 40 percent of 31 homes would equate 
to 12.4 affordable homes, with 12 affordable homes delivered on-site and 
0.4 as financial contribution for a ‘part unit’. This is the most common reason 
for an off-site contribution.  

ii. Another scenario is sites of between 5 and 10 homes within Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), where we collect a financial 
contribution for affordable housing rather than requiring delivery on-site, in 
line with Government advice in the NPPF para 63.  

iii. Thirdly, where the financial viability of a site has been contested by an 
applicant.  

iv. Finally, there can be times when the on-site delivery of affordable housing 
may be considered impracticable.  

7. Where an off-site contribution has been agreed by the Council to be justified in line 
with Policy H9, the method for securing it is that a commuted sum contribution is 
calculated using a standard formula. This formula has been tested at planning 
appeals and has been robust. A Section 106 legal agreement linked to the 
planning application is used to secure the financial contribution.   

8. In December 2020 the council’s Planning Committee attended a question and 
answer session, which explained the way in which financial contributions are 
calculated using a standard formula developed for the council by financial 
consultants BNP Paribas. The formula is used to calculate ‘part unit’ contributions, 
and where affordable homes are not delivered on site for other reasons. An extract 
from the formula is provided at Appendix 1. 

9. The principle of the financial contribution calculated in accordance with the 
council’s established methodology is that it should reflect the cost to a developer of 
the on-site delivery of affordable homes. This is a standard and accepted approach 
in the industry and used throughout the England. 

10. When affordable homes are provided on an application site they are acquired by a 
Registered Provider (housing association) in almost all instances. The delivery of 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



 

 
3 

 

the affordable homes is a developer contribution. This is in accordance with Local 
Plan 2035 Policy H9 requirements. The affordable homes are purchased from the 
developer by the Registered Provider (RP). However, the RP does not pay full 
open market value for the homes. The RP offer reflects its borrowing requirements 
for the project, and the rental stream and shared ownership sales income needed 
to support borrowing repayments. 

11. The financial contributions sought from developers, whether for part units, or on-
site delivery in its entirety do not, therefore, represent the entire cost of providing a 
new affordable home. The contribution is lower than the entire open market value. 
This is because the contribution represents the gap between what an RP is able to 
pay a developer for a new home, and the open market value of such. This ‘gap’ is 
the cost to the developer of providing the affordable homes as a planning 
obligation. 

12. As outlined above, there are circumstances where a planning applicant contests 
the financial viability of delivering affordable housing, asserting that they are 
unable to meet a planning policy compliant 40% affordable housing level on site 
due to the costs associated with delivering a scheme. The National Planning Policy 
Framework and Planning Practice Guidance (24 May 2021) requires planning 
authorities to take into account the financial viability of a development in 
considering a planning application. 

13. Planning applications citing financial viability as reason for delivering reduced 
S.106 contributions (including affordable housing), or no S.106 contributions, are 
thoroughly scrutinised by the council. Unlike calculating part-units which is a clear 
and established calculation, for viability arguments there is no standardised 
formula to assess the level of contribution. The process is one of negotiation, 
based around planning policy, our S.106 Supplementary Planning Document and 
the three tests set out under the Community Infrastructure Levy legislation. Officers 
often engage the services of an appropriately qualified specialist to ascertain 
development viability where sought contributions are challenged. Officers, 
including senior planning management, negotiate with the applicant over the 
appropriate contributions. 

14. In assessing a case where an applicant has cited financial viability as reason for 
reduced or nil S.106 contributions, the council or its appointed expert must take 
into consideration a significant number of factors in order to establish the level of 
contributions a site is capable of supporting (if any). In broad terms, this will include 
build costs, the anticipated value of the completed scheme (what the developer will 
be able to sell it for), and a reasonable profit for the developer, thus enabling the 
development to come forward. These costs must be presented by the developer in 
what is known as an open book appraisal. It is the role of the council or its 
appointed expert to scrutinise the costs submitted, and to ensure that the 
information submitted is validated and robustly evidenced. 

15. Taking into account the costs of a development, and a reasonable level of profit, 
there may be residual sums which can be used towards mitigating the 
development in accordance with planning policy and secured through S.106 
contributions. Contributions for requirements such as education, transport, etc take 
precedence over affordable housing, because of the practical implementation of 
the housing development and providing the necessary mitigation (a development 
must have access roads, and provide new occupiers with education facilities etc).  

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

 
4 

 

The formula referred to at paragraph 7 (see Appendix 1) does not apply in the case 
of financial viability appraisals, where calculations are based upon what it is 
considered a development can afford to contribute, without compromising delivery 
of the overall development. 

16. The Affordable Housing Team has in-house procedures to assist with scrutinising a 
financial viability appraisal. This helps highlight some of the matters to be 
considered in a financial viability challenge.  

17. Following the adoption of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 in December 
2020, officers are reviewing the process and formula for the calculation of financial 
contributions where ‘part unit’ and off-site contributions are sought. This will make 
sure there is an up-to-date and robust methodology remains in place. Officers have 
also started the review of the Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 
and the associated S106 Supplementary Planning Document. 

Climate and ecological impact implications 

18. There are no identifiable climate or ecological implications resulting from this 
report.  

Financial Implications 

19. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  Any review of 
policies may result in financial changes that would be considered as part of the 
adoption process. 

Legal Implications 

20. There are no legal implications arising from this report.  

Risks 

21. There are no associated risks arising from this report.  

Conclusion 

22. The current process for calculating commuted sums for affordable housing varies 
according to the reason for the commuted sum, set out in para 6. Where it is for a 
part-unit of affordable housing, this is a set calculation using a standard formula 
which is designed to reflect the cost of on-site delivery to a developer. The same 
calculation applies to housing on small sites in the AONB, and situations where 
there is a practical or where the council accepts there is a practical reason for not 
delivering the affordable housing on site.  

23. Where it is to address a viability agreement, the process is more complex. 
Affordable housing financial contributions which result from a financial viability 
appraisal case are not fixed, because of the way in which viability appraisal 
submissions must be evaluated, taking account of the many cost-related variables 
involved. Whilst there are accepted standards relating to the establishment of build 
cost and development values etc, the viability appraisal process is one of 
negotiation. The council must assess and scrutinise costs and incomes provided 
by the developer, to ensure these fall within reasonable and accepted parameters. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



 

 
5 

 

Therefore, the council is unable to specify a specific minimum level of commuted 
sum payment (or on-site contribution) where the applicant has demonstrated that 
the development is unable to financially support such a payment. If the council 
were to require a financial contribution over and above that which has been 
evidenced, the council could be open to challenge at appeal or through the courts.  

24. The commuted sum calculation methodology is due to be updated following the 
adoption of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035, to ensure that the process is 
up to date and robust. This is expected to be completed within the current calendar 
year. 

Background Papers 

 National Planning Policy Framework, June 2019 

 Planning Practice Guidance, updated May 2021 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

  

Affordable Housing Viability Study: Addendum 
Report following introduction of 'Affordable 
Rent' tenure   

Prepared for 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

October 2011  

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



 

 2 

Contents 
1 Introduction 3 
2 Changes to key assumptions 5 
3 Appraisal results 10 
4 Review of ‘Key Questions’ 18 
5 Conclusions 21 

 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 Appraisal outputs 22 
Appendix 2 Small sites analysis 23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details:  
 
Anthony Lee, Director – Affordable Housing  
BNP Paribas Real Estate  
5 Aldermanbury Square  
London EC2V 7HR  
 
Tel: 020 7338 4061  
Fax: 020 7404 2028 
Email: anthony.lee@bnpparibas.com  
 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



 

 3 

1 Introduction  
1.1 Background 

In 2009, BNP Paribas Real Estate South undertook an assessment of the 
viability of developments within the South Oxfordshire District and their ability to 
achieve the Council’s affordable housing target.  The study concluded as 
follows:  

■ That there was clear evidence that, over the plan period, 40% affordable 
housing would be deliverable in some circumstances and that the level of 
private sales values and existing use values would be crucial to determining 
delivery;    

■ The results indicated that an affordable housing threshold of 3 units would 
be financially viable in some circumstances;  

■ Although some sites in agricultural use might be able to meet the target 
more easily than sites in other existing uses, this did not warrant the 
adoption of variable targets;  

■ The adoption of different affordable housing targets in different areas across 
the District would inevitably result in market distortion;   

■ That there was little evidence to suggest that a sliding scale approach for 
sites of more than 5 units would deliver more affordable housing.  On sites 
of less than 5 units, the study recommended that the Council might consider 
a hybrid approach of on-site delivery and a commuted sum (to deal with 
fractions of units when the 40% requirement is applied);  

■ Commuted sums in lieu of the on-site provision of affordable housing should 
not adversely affect viability; and  

■ Existing use value and alternative use values are one of the key variables 
that can impact on the provision of affordable housing.   

 
The appraisals underpinning the study were based on varying tenure mixes, 
ranging from 80% social rent to 20% shared ownership, to 65% social rent and 
35% shared ownership.  The appraisals were run on a with and without grant 
assumption.  Where grant was included, it was assumed to amount to £50,000 
per unit for social rented housing and £25,000 per unit for shared ownership.   
 
In February 2011, the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(‘CLG’) and the Homes and Communities Agency (‘HCA’) published its ‘2011-15 
Affordable Homes Programme – Framework’ document.  This document sets 
out the government’s intentions regarding grant funding for affordable housing 
and changes to affordable housing tenures.  This document was clearly 
published after the publication of the Council’s Affordable Housing Viability 
Study, which was published in November 2009.  This addendum note updates 
the Viability Study to reflect the changes in the government’s framework 
document.  It should be read in conjunction with the November 2009 study. 
 

1.2 The Government’s intentions  
 
The Framework document is pertinent to the delivery of affordable housing 
through planning obligations for the following reasons:   
 
■ Firstly, the amount of grant funding has been substantially reduced (from 

£2.8 billion per annum in the 2008-2011 programme to £0.55 billion per 
annum) and the first two years funding is already committed;    

Page 18

Agenda Item 7



 

 4 

■ Secondly, the Framework document (paragraph 5.14 and 5.15) states that 
affordable housing delivered through Section 106 agreements will not 
receive grant support.  The effect is that the landowner/developer will bear 
full responsibility for providing the subsidy to deliver affordable housing; and 

■ Thirdly, the Framework document sets out the government’s intention to 
largely replace social rented housing with the new Affordable Rent tenure, 
to be let at rents of up to 80% of market rents.  In contrast, social rents are 
significantly lower (typically between 40% to 50% of market rents).  The 
increased rental income will, in principle, enable registered social landlords 
to pay higher capital values for affordable rented units than would otherwise 
be the case if the affordable housing was provided as social rented units 
(without grant).   

1.3 Report structure  

This addendum report should be read in conjunction with the original Affordable 
Housing Viability Study (November 2009).   

The remaining sections of this addendum report are structured as follows:   

■ Section 2 outlines the changes to our appraisal assumptions, including 
private sales values, build costs and the implications of the new Affordable 
Rent tenure and withdrawal of grant funding;  

■ Section 3 outlines the results of our appraisals incorporating the changes 
outlined in the previous section;  

■ Section 4 re-considers the ‘key questions’ addressed by the original 2009 
study in light of the revised appraisals; and 

■ Section 5 sets out our conclusions and recommendations.      

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



 

 5 

2 Changes to key assumptions  
This section outlines changes made to key appraisal assumptions, reflecting 
either changes in the affordable housing policy approach of central government, 
or changes that result from improvements in market conditions.  Full details of 
all our assumptions and their rationale are set out in detail in our November 
2009 report.   

2.1.1 Sales Values  

In our November 2009 report, we noted that residential values in the District 
reflected national trends (in terms of falling values), with variations between 
areas across the District.  The values underpinning the assessment were 
sourced in April/May 2009.  We have reviewed value trends over the intervening 
period.  Land Registry data (see figure 2.1.1 below) indicates that the market hit 
its lowest point in the recession at the time we were gathering data.  Since that 
time, values across the County of Oxfordshire increased by 11.4% over the 
subsequent two years to May 2011.  However, sales values remain 5% below 
their February 2008 peak.   

Figure 2.1.1: Changes in market values – December 2 006 – May 2011  
 

 

 

Table 2.2.2 below shows the range of sales values achieved in the District in 
2007, together with example areas in the adjacent column.  This table shows 
the original values assumed in our 2009 assessment and revised values based 
on the subsequent recovery in the market to May 2011.   

 

 

 

       

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



 

 6 

Table 2.2.2: Sales values in South Oxfordshire, 201 1, 2009 and 2007 

Sales 
values – 
May 2011 
(£s per sq 
metre) 

Example 
areas  

Sales 
values – 
May 2009 
(£s per sq 
metre)  

Example 
areas  

Sales 
values – 
2007 peak  
(£s per sq 
metre) 

Example 
areas 

£2,691 - 
£2,959 

 £2,691 - 
£2,959 

(A) 
Wallingford, 

Didcot, 
Thame 

surrounding 
area, 

Wheatly 

£2,691 - 
£2,959 

 

£2,960 - 
£3,228 

(A) 
Wallingford, 

Didcot, 
Thame 

surrounding 
area, 

Wheatly 

£2,960 - 
£3,228 

(B) Thame 
Town 

Centre, 
Woodcote, 
Cholsey, 
Goring 

 

£2,960 - 
£3,228 

 

£3,229 - 
£3,497 

(B) Thame 
Town 

Centre, 
Woodcote, 
Cholsey, 
Goring 

£3,229 - 
£3,497 

(C) Sonning 
Common, 
Nettlebed, 

Stonor, 
Watlington, 

Ewelme 

£3,229 - 
£3,497 

(A) 
Wallingford, 

Didcot, 
Thame 

surrounding 
area, 

Wheatly 

£3,498 - 
£3,766 

  £3,498 - 
£3,766 

 £3,498 - 
£3,766 

(B) Thame 
Town 

Centre, 
Woodcote, 
Cholsey, 
Goring 

 

£3,767 - 
£4,036 

(C) Sonning 
Common, 
Nettlebed, 

Stonor, 
Watlington, 

Ewelme 

£3,767 - 
£4,036 

(D) Henley, 
Rotherfield 
Peppard, 
Middle 

Assendon, 
Benson 

£3,767 - 
£4,036 

(C) Sonning 
Common, 
Nettlebed, 

Stonor, 
Watlington, 

Ewelme 

£4,037 - 
£4,305 

  £4,037 - 
£4,305 

 £4,037 - 
£4,305 

 

£4,306 - 
£4,574 

(D) Henley, 
Rotherfield 
Peppard, 

Middle 
Assendon, 

Benson 

£4,306 - 
£4,574 

 £4,306 - 
£4,574 

(D) Henley, 
Rotherfield 
Peppard, 
Middle 

Assendon, 
Benson 

£4,575 - 
£4,843 

 £4,575 - 
£4,843 

 £4,575 - 
£4,843 

 

£4,844 - 
£5,112 

 £4,844 - 
£5,112 

 £4,844 - 
£5,112 

 

Source: comparable sales evidence and local agents.  May 2011 figures based 
on May 2009 figures, adjusted by change in Land Registry House Price Index 
for Oxfordshire  

2.1.2 Base Construction Costs 

Our November 2009 study assumed a range of base construction costs 
reflecting density considerations ranging from £971 per square metre to £1095 
per square metre (net), incorporating the costs of meeting Lifetime Homes 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

 7 

requirements, but excluding infrastructure costs.  These costs were drawn from 
the RICS Building Cost Information Service (BCIS). 

The BCIS Tender Price Index indicates that tender prices have fallen by 3.4% 
between the second quarter of 2009 and the third quarter of 2010 (which is the 
most recently published data available).  We have therefore reduced our base 
construction cost assumption by 3.4%, resulting in a range of £938 per square 
to £1,058 per square metre.     

2.1.3   Developer’s profit  

Our 2009 study assumed developer’s profit on the private housing element of 
the schemes at three alternative levels; 15% of GDV, reflecting better market 
conditions prior to 2008; 20% of GDV, reflecting current market conditions in 
2009; and 25% of GDV, reflecting a potential worsening of conditions.   
Following the recovery which began in the second half of 2009, development 
risk has abated somewhat and the prospects of banks increasing their 
expectations of scheme profit have receded.  We have therefore modelled the 
schemes assuming a profit of 20%, reflecting current and medium term 
conditions, and 15% profit, reflecting a long term return to lower profit 
expectations.   

2.1.4 Affordable Housing tenure  

The Council’s existing affordable housing policy is to require 75% social rented 
and 25% shared ownership housing.  Our updated appraisals run this mix, 
alongside a replacement of Social Rent with Affordable Rent.  The range of 
appraisals is shown in Table 2.1.4 below.   

Table 2.1.4: Affordable housing tenure mix  

Mix Number % 
affordable 
rent  

% social 
rent 

% 
intermediate 

Mix 1  - 75 25 

Mix 2 - 65 35 

Mix 3 - 80 20 

Mix 4 75 - 25 

Mix 5 65 - 35 

Mix 6 80 - 20 

2.1.5 Affordable housing values  

All our appraisals are run on a nil grant basis, to reflect the presumption against 
grant for Section 106 sites, i.e. schemes delivered by a private sector developer 
who is not a Homes and Communities Agency investment partner.   

As in our 2009 assessment, our appraisal model adopts as an input a fixed 
value that an RSL would be expected to pay for completed units of affordable 
housing.  For rented housing, the level of rent charged is the critical factor in 
determining capital value.  For social rented units, RSLs are assumed to pay 
£785 per square metre and up to £3,014 per square metre for intermediate 
housing.  As intermediate housing is linked to market values, the values will fall 
if market values are lower. 

Determining the rent levels for Affordable Rent units is made somewhat 
complex by affordability and the Local Housing Allowance.  The HCA Affordable 
Homes Programme: Framework document states that RSLs should have regard 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



 

 8 

to Local Housing Allowances (‘LHAs’) when setting rents for new Affordable 
Rent units.  LHAs are pegged to the 30th percentile of local market rents and 
can therefore be considerably lower than average market rents.   

In setting appropriate rent levels for Affordable Rent units, we have therefore 
had regard to LHAs, which will act as a ‘cap’ in some circumstances, particularly 
on rents for larger units.  We have also excluded the rents above the 90th 
percentile, as these are outlying exceptional properties, which are not reflective 
of the remaining units.   

Table 2.1.5.1: Rent levels in South Oxfordshire (£s  per week)  

 Unit type  Min 
rent  

Max 
rent  

LHA 
rate  

90th 
percentile  

Shared  48 126 74 94 

1 bed  88 280 137 178 

2 bed  121 458 167 243 

3 bed  117 600 199 317 

4 bed  194 1019 285 473 

Source: Valuation Office Agency  

Where 60%, 70% or 80% of the market rent does not exceed the LHA rate, 
these rents are adopted for modelling purposes.  However, if LHA would be 
exceeded by these rents, the LHA is adopted as the ‘Affordable Rent’.  The 
resulting rents are shown in Table 2.1.5.2.   

Table 2.1.5.2: Affordable Rents in South Oxfordshir e (£s per week)  

Unit type 60% of market 
rent 

70% of market 
rent 

80% of market 
rent 

Shared 56 66 74* 

1 bed 107 125 137* 

2 bed 146 167* 167* 

3 bed 190 199* 199* 

4 bed 284 285* 285* 

* indicates where rents would have exceeded the LHA and have therefore been 
capped at appropriate LHA level. 

We then capitalised the gross Affordable Rents and deducted appropriate 
allowances for voids, bad debts, management and maintenance, arriving at the 
following capital values: 

■ 60% of market rents: £1,884 per square metre;  

■ 70% of market rents: £2,034 per square metre; and  

■ 80% of market rents: £2,067 per square metre.  

The very modest differences in capital values  between 60%, 70% and 80% of 
market rents reflects the affect of capping by the LHA.  The rented housing mix 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

 9 

in our appraisal is weighted heavily towards two bed units and above, which will 
be affected by LHA caps more significantly than one bed properties. 

   

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



 

 10 

3 Appraisal results   
The results of our analysis are presented in the same format as the analyses in 
our main study.  An annotated guide to the data tables is provided on the next 
two pages.     

The full set of data tables are attached as Appendix 1, which also show the 
residual land values from which the symbols are derived.  The data tables show 
the following variables:  

■ Affordable housing 10%, 20%, 30%, 35% 40%, 45% and 50% of units;  

■ Each of the above with a social rent to shared ownership split of 75%:25%, 
65%:35% and 80%:20%;  

■ As an alternative to the previous bullet point, an affordable rent to shared 
ownership split of 75%:25%, 65%:35% and 80%:20%.  

■ Each of the above with other planning obligations of £5,000 and £15,000;  

■ Each of the above with profit levels of 15% and 20%. 

For each affordable housing percentage, there are 48 separate tables, each 
comprising 112 residual valuations, showing the outputs of some 5,376 residual 
valuations.  These residual valuations are then compared to four different 
existing use values, resulting in the analysis of 21,504 different development 
scenarios.  The results dataset is attached as Appendix 1. 

Tables 3.1.1 to 3.1.4 summarise the appraisal outputs and compare the viability 
outcomes of a social rent and shared ownership tenure mix to an affordable rent 
and shared ownership tenure mix.  The summary tables show the results across 
the full range of sales values (£2,691 to £6,189 per square metre) for a 
75%:25% affordable tenure mix, on a 45 units per hectare scheme. The results 
are shown with and without grant; with Section 106 contributions of £5,000 and 
£15,000 per unit; and profit levels of 15%, 20% and 25%. The results are split 
between the four existing use values. 

The results indicate that the adoption of the Affordable Rent tenure would 
wholly or partially mitigate the loss of grant funding, although the extent to which 
the Council’s target of 40% affordable housing can be met depends upon the 
rent level selected.  However, as noted in the previous section, it appears that 
little benefit would be gained by increasing Affordable Rents above 60% of 
market value due to LHA caps.   

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



 

                11 

Guide to appraisal outputs  

The appraisal outputs contain a series of tables, showing different scenarios (eg level of affordable housing, tenure mix, profit levels and planning 
obligations), as shown on the Index page.  At the top of each page, we show the residual values from a series of hypothetical schemes, which are then 
compared to four different existing use values in the tables below.  The first table below shows the layout of the residual values:    

 

 

 

 

 

Density - 
units/ha 25 uph 30 uph 35 uph 40 uph 45 uph 50 uph 55 uph 60 uph

sq m
Build -> £938 £942 £948 £971 £995 £1,019 £1,046 £1,070

Sales value 
psm

Sales value 
psm

Ave sales 
value p.u.

£2,691 983,883                1,170,892       1,348,949       1,466,665            1,565,633       1,645,854       1,689,420       1,730,518          £2,691 208,032      
£2,960 1,290,113             1,538,368       1,777,670       1,956,633            2,116,847       2,258,313       2,363,126       2,465,469          £2,960 226,781      
£3,229 1,596,342             1,905,844       2,206,392       2,446,600            2,668,060       2,870,773       3,036,831       3,200,420          £3,229 247,397      
£3,498 1,901,871             2,272,630       2,634,577       2,936,567            3,219,274       3,483,232       3,710,536       3,935,371          £3,498 268,014      
£3,767 2,205,479             2,636,960       3,059,629       3,422,900            3,767,715       4,094,078       4,384,241       4,670,322          £3,767 288,630      
£4,037 2,509,088             3,001,290       3,484,681       3,908,673            4,314,211       4,701,294       5,052,296       5,400,867          £4,037 309,247      
£4,306 2,812,696             3,365,621       3,909,732       4,394,447            4,860,706       5,308,511       5,720,234       6,129,527          £4,306 329,863      
£4,575 3,116,305             3,729,951       4,334,784       4,880,220            5,407,201       5,915,728       6,388,173       6,858,187          £4,575 350,479      
£4,844 3,419,913             4,094,281       4,759,836       5,365,994            5,953,696       6,522,944       7,056,111       7,586,847          £4,844 371,096      
£5,113 3,723,522             4,458,611       5,184,888       5,851,767            6,500,192       7,130,161       7,724,050       8,315,508          £5,113 391,712      
£5,382 4,027,130             4,822,941       5,609,939       6,337,541            7,046,686       7,737,378       8,391,988       9,044,168          £5,382 412,329      
£5,651 4,330,738             5,187,271       6,034,991       6,823,314            7,593,182       8,344,594       9,059,926       9,772,828          £5,651 432,945      
£5,920 4,634,347             5,551,601       6,460,043       7,309,087            8,139,677       8,951,811       9,727,865       10,501,488        £5,920 453,562      
£6,189 4,937,954             5,915,931       6,885,094       7,794,860            8,686,171       9,559,028       10,395,803     11,230,148        £6,189 474,178       

Each cell shows the residual land value of a hypothetical scheme.  
For example, the cell we point to here is a 40 unit per ha scheme, 
with average sales values of £4,575 per sqm and build costs of 
£971 per sqm.  The residual value is £4,880,220.       Density of scheme 

(units per hectare)  
Sales value  
(per sq m)  Build costs per 

square metre  

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 7



 

                12 

These results are then compared to a series of existing use values, using a system of symbols.  Green  symbols show where the residual land value is 15% 
or higher than the existing use value (and is therefore considered viable); yellow  symbols show where the residual value is between 14.9% below EUV 
and 14.9% above EUV (and is considered marginal); and red  symbols show where the residual value is 15% or greater less than EUV and is clearly 
unviable.   

 

 

 

 

RLVs less existing use value 1 - High EUV £3,494,400 per hectare (Previously developed - residential)
£1,414,737 per acre

Density - 
units/ha 25 uph 30 uph 35 uph 40 uph 45 uph 50 uph 55 uph 60 uph

Build costs - £ per 
Build -> £938 £942 £948 £971 £995 £1,019 £1,046 £1,070

Sales value 
£per sq m

Sales value 
£per sq m

Ave sales 
value p.u.

£2,691 ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� £2,691 208,032      

£2,960 ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� £2,960 226,781      

£3,229 ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� £3,229 247,397      

£3,498 ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� £3,498 268,014      

£3,767 ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ £3,767 288,630      

£4,037 ���� ���� ���� ���� ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ £4,037 309,247      

£4,306 ���� ���� ���� ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ £4,306 329,863      

£4,575 ���� ���� ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ £4,575 350,479      

£4,844 ���� ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ ☺☺☺☺ £4,844 371,096       

 

Each cell in the table follows an identical pattern to the 
table on the previous page.  The arrow points to a 
scheme of 40 units per ha, with average sales values of 
£4,575 per sqm and build costs of £971 per sqm.  The 
residual value of that scheme (£4.88 million) is 40% 
higher than the EUV (£3.49 million).  This scheme is 
judged as ‘viable’, as the residual value of exceeds EUV 
by more than 15%.    

Here, the arrow points to a scheme of 40 units per 
ha, with sales values of £3,767 per sqm and build 
costs of £971 per sqm.  The residual value of the 
scheme is £3.42 million, marginally lower than EUV. 
This scheme is assessed as ‘marginal’ and 
represented by a yellow symbol.   

Existing use 
value   

These columns show 
the range of values 
across the District 
(May 2011 values 
and 2007 values)   

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7



 

                13 

 

  Table 3.1.1: Viable levels of affordable housing: h igh existing use value  

Value 
Band  

Values 
per sq 

m 

75% Affordable Rent @ 60% of market rent and 25% sh ared 
ownership 

75% Social Rent at Target Rents  
and 25% shared ownership  

  £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 

 

 15% profit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 15% pro fit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 

 £2,691 <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% 

 £2,960 <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% 

A £3,229 <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% 

B £3,498 20%m 10%m <10% <10% 10%m <10% <10% <10% 

 £3,767 40%m 30%m 20%m 10%m 20%m 10%m 10%m <10% 

C £4,037 45%m 45%m 40%m 20%m 30%m 20%m 20%m 10% 

 £4,306 50%m 50%m 45%m 45%m 35%m 30%m 30%m 20% 

D £4,575 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 40%m 35%m 35%m 30% 

 £4,844 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 45%m 40%m 40%m 35%m 

 £5,113 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 45%m 45%m 40%m 

 £5,382 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 45%m 

 £5,651 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 

 £5,920 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 50%m 

 £6,189 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50% 50% 50%m 

 
Notes:  m = marginal  
  See Table 2.2.2 for corresponding areas in value bands A to D  

 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 7



 

                14 

 

Table 3.1.2: Viable levels of affordable housing: m edium existing use value  

Value 
Band  

Values 
per sq 

m 

75% Affordable Rent @ 60% of market rent and 25% sh ared 
ownership 

75% Social Rent at Target Rents  
and 25% shared ownership  

  £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 

 

 15% profit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 15% pro fit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 

 £2,691 <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% 

 £2,960 10%m <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% <10% 

A £3,229 40%m 20%m 10%m 10%m 10%m <10% <10% <10% 

B £3,498 50%m 45%m 35%m 20%m 20%m 20%m 10%m <10% 

 £3,767 50%m 50%m 45%m 35%m 35%m 20%m 20%m 10% 

C £4,037 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 40%m 35%m 30%m 20% 

 £4,306 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 45%m 40%m 40%m 35%m 

D £4,575 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 45%m 45%m 40%m 

 £4,844 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 45%m 

 £5,113 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 50%m 

 £5,382 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 

 £5,651 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 

 £5,920 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £6,189 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 
Notes:  m = marginal  
  See Table 2.2.2 for corresponding areas in value bands A to D  

 

 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 7



 

                15 

 

 

Table 3.1.3: Viable levels of affordable housing: l ow existing use value – community use  

Value 
Band  

Values 
per sq 

m 

75% Affordable Rent @ 60% of market rent and 25% sh ared 
ownership 

75% Social Rent at Target Rents  
and 25% shared ownership  

  £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 

 

 15% profit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 15% pro fit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 

 £2,691 45%m 10%m <10% <10% 10%m <10% <10% <10% 

 £2,960 50%m 50%m 30%m 10%m 20%m 10%m 10%m <10% 

A £3,229 50% 50%m 50%m 40%m 35%m 20%m 20%m 10% 

B £3,498 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 40%m 35%m 30%m 20% 

 £3,767 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 45%m 35%m 35%m 

C £4,037 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 45%m 40%m 

 £4,306 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 50%m 45%m 

D £4,575 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%m 

 £4,844 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,113 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,382 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,651 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,920 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £6,189 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 
Notes:  m = marginal 
  See Table 2.2.2 for corresponding areas in value bands A to D  

 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 7



 

                16 

 

Table 3.1.4: Viable levels of affordable housing: l ow existing use value – agricultural   

Value 
Band  

Values 
per sq 

m 

75% Affordable Rent @ 60% of market rent and 25% sh ared 
ownership 

75% Social Rent at Target Rents  
and 25% shared ownership  

  £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 £5,000 S106 £15,000 S106 

 

 15% profit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 15% pro fit 20% profit 15% profit 20% profit 

 £2,691 50% 50% 50% 50% 35%m 20% 10% 10% 

 £2,960 50% 50% 50% 50% 45% 35% 30% 20% 

A £3,229 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 45% 35% 35% 

B £3,498 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 45% 40% 

 £3,767 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

C £4,037 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £4,306 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

D £4,575 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £4,844 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,113 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,382 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,651 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £5,920 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 £6,189 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 

 
Notes:  m = marginal 
  See Table 2.2.2 for corresponding areas in value bands A to D  

  

 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 7



 

     

3.1 Small sites analysis  

Appendix 2 sets out the updated residual values for smaller developments, 
ranging from 2 units to 15 units.  As in our previous report, the residual values 
are compared to existing use values of existing residential sites; industrial sites; 
low value community uses; and agricultural use.  Our assumptions for running 
these appraisals are 20% developer’s profit; affordable housing provided as 
100% rented (either Social Rent or Affordable Rent, at 60%, 70% and 80% of 
market values); £5,000 Section 106 obligations; and no grant.  The results are 
summarised in the tables below.  Table 3.1.1 summarises the results assuming 
the affordable housing is provided as Social Rent and 3.1.2 summarises the 
results assuming Affordable Rent at 60% of market rents.     

Table 3.1.1: Summary of small sites appraisals (Soc ial Rent and £5,000 
S106 obligations, at current market values)   

 Maximum viable proportion of affordable, given vari ous EUVs:  

No of units  High EUV Med EUV Low EUV Low EUV Agric 

2 0% 0% 0% 40% 

3 0% 0% 0% 40% 

4 0% 0% 30% 40% 

5 0% 25% 35% 40% 

6 0% 35% 40% 40% 

7 20% 40% 40% 40% 

8 25% 40% 40% 40% 

9 30% 40% 40% 40% 

10 30% 40% 40% 40% 

11 40% 40% 40% 40% 

12 40% 40% 40% 40% 

13 40% 40% 40% 40% 

14 40% 40% 40% 40% 

15 40% 40% 40% 40% 

Table 3.1.2: Summary of small sites appraisals (Aff ordable Rent at 60% of 
market rents and £5,000 S106 obligations, at curren t market values)   

 Maximum viable proportion of affordable, given vari ous EUVs:  

No of units  High EUV Med EUV Low EUV Low EUV Agric 

2 0% 0% 0% 40% 

3 0% 0% 25% 40% 

4 0% 0% 40% 40% 

5 0% 30% 40% 40% 

6 20% 40% 40% 40% 

7 35% 40% 40% 40% 

8 40% 40% 40% 40% 

9 40% 40% 40% 40% 

10 40% 40% 40% 40% 

11 40% 40% 40% 40% 

12 40% 40% 40% 40% 

13 40% 40% 40% 40% 

14 40% 40% 40% 40% 

15 40% 40% 40% 40% 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 

     

4 Review of ‘Key Questions’ 
Our 2009 report posed some ‘key questions’ with our responses, based on the 
findings of our appraisals.  These questions and responses were designed to 
assist the Council in setting its policy targets for affordable housing.  This 
section reviews the key questions in light of the new appraisals which 
incorporate Affordable Rent in place of Social Rent.     

4.1.1 Key question 1: on sites of 15 units or more,  should a 40% affordable 
housing target be adopted 

Our 2009 study noted that the appraisal results at that time indicated that the 
delivery of 40% affordable housing on every single site coming forward for 
development in the District was an ambitious target that some sites will be 
unable to achieve.     

The study went on to note that within the residential sales value bands which 
were found within the District at the time, there were some circumstances 
across the District where up to 40% affordable housing might have been 
possible on sites in medium and low value existing uses. 

Tables 3.1.1 to 3.1.4 clearly demonstrate that the Council could still achieve 
40% affordable housing on some sites(with a 75% social rented and 25% 
shared ownership tenure mix).  However, at current sales values (which are 
notably higher than they were in 2009) this would be limited to sites with low 
value existing uses.  Delivery of affordable housing as a mix of Affordable Rent 
(with rents of 60% of market rents) and shared ownership would result in the 
40% affordable housing target being viable in a considerably higher number of 
scenarios.  Importantly, 40% affordable housing would be viable on sites both in 
high and medium existing use.   

Our previous advice in response to this question is therefore unchanged.   

4.1.2 Key question 2: on sites capable of achieving  between 2 and 14 units, 
should affordable housing be required?  

 
Our 2009 study noted that smaller sites often incur somewhat higher costs than 
larger sites, but very often values achieved upon sale of the units can be higher, 
as smaller schemes can attract a cachet that larger schemes do not.  If on-site 
affordable housing proves to be impractical in some circumstances, it may be 
possible for developments to make a payment in lieu.   

Our revised analysis of smaller sites suggests that schemes providing as few as 
2 units could achieve 40% affordable housing on sites with low (agricultural) 
existing use values.   On sites in other low value existing uses, affordable 
housing contributions could be secured if schemes are of 3 or greater units in 
size.  However, as noted in our previous report, the Council would need to be 
mindful of the practical impacts of running viability tests on sites yielding 
relatively small contributions towards affordable housing.  Notwithstanding this 
concern, the study provides evidence to support a reduction in the threshold to 
2 or 3 units, with the caveat that this may only be viable on sites with the lowest 
existing use values.    

4.1.3 Key question 3: on sites in industrial or agr icultural use, could a higher 
proportion of affordable housing be sought and, if so, what would be 
the appropriate level?  

Table 3.1.4 indicates that adoption of Affordable Rent in place of social rented 
housing would – in principle – enable the Council to adopt a 50% target for sites 
in agricultural use.  The evidence for a higher target on sites in current industrial 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

     

use is less clear cut, as many sites in value bands A and B are unable to meet 
even the 40% affordable housing target.   

Our advice in response to this question therefore remains unchanged from our 
2009 report.  Within the context of our response to key question one 
(suggesting that the Council adopt a 40% affordable housing target across the 
District), we do not consider there to be sufficient evidence that sites in 
industrial use could necessarily provide more affordable housing than other 
sites in the District.  However, it is clear from our analysis that sites in 
agricultural use are more easily able to provide affordable housing than on sites 
in other uses.  The ability to meet the target does not, however, necessarily 
warrant an increased demand for affordable housing on these sites.     

4.1.4 Key question 4: Should different affordable h ousing targets be applied 
in particular parts of the District? 

The updated appraisals do not give rise to any factors that would result in a 
change of advice from our 2009 report.   

4.1.5 Key question 5: Is a ‘sliding scale’ approach  to affordable housing 
thresholds and percentages on sites between 5 and 1 4 dwellings 
appropriate for larger settlements?  Is a sliding s cale approach below 5 
units in smaller settlements appropriate?   

The updated appraisals do not give rise to any factors that would result in a 
change of advice from our 2009 report.   

4.1.6 Key question 6: Is a charge in lieu of on-sit e affordable housing 
appropriate?  

The updated appraisals do not give rise to any factors that would result in a 
change of advice from our 2009 report.  However, the Council has requested 
that we update the formula for calculating payments in lieu, in light of the 
potential adopting of Affordable Rent in place of Social Rent.   

As noted in our 2009 report, if a scheme cannot viably provide affordable 
housing on site, a requirement for a cash payment in lieu is no more viable than 
the onsite option.  It is possible that a payment in lieu of affordable housing 
could be secured, but this would need to be based on any ‘surplus’ value that 
each individual scheme might generate and would have to be subject to 
individual site assessment at the time of the planning application.  By ‘surplus’ 
we mean any positive balance remaining after the existing use value (plus any 
premium required by the landowner to incentivise them to release the site for 
development) has been deducted from the residual land value of the scheme.    

In cases where affordable housing is not provided on-site for reasons other than 
financial viability (e.g. for management reasons), then there is a case for the 
application of a charge in-lieu of on-site provision. This should be calculated so 
that the Developer is no better off financially than he would have been had the 
affordable housing been provided on-site.  Due to the significant variances in 
the levels of private sales values achieved across the District, it would be 
difficult to use a standard charge approach, unless it were set at a level that 
would be affordable for the lowest value schemes.  This would mean the 
standard charge would be much more favourable for schemes in higher value 
areas.  To resolve this issue, setting a charge on a site specific basis would be 
preferable and could be calculated using a formula, as follows:  

 (A - B) x (C x D)  

Where 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



 

     

(A) equals the value of a market unit in the scheme  

(B) equals the equivalent value of the same unit as affordable housing (no 
grant)  

(C) equals the affordable housing percentage  

(D) equals the number of units in the scheme  

If the Council were to adopt the Affordable Rent model for the purposes of 
calculating the commuted sum (rather than Social Rent with no grant, as 
assumed in our 2009 report), the calculations would be as follows.  The 
calculations based on Social Rent are also provided to enable comparison 
between the two options.   Both sets of calculations assume a 15 units scheme 
with market values of £250,000 per unit (average unit size of 80 sqm).   

Option 1: Affordable Rent @ 60% of market rent  

The equivalent value of a market unit in the scheme as Affordable Rent is 
£151,000.  The commuted sum calculation would be as follows:   

(A) £250,000 - (B) £151,000 = £99,000 

X  

(C) 0.4 x (D) 15 units = 6 units  

Equals £0.59 million.   

Option 2: Social Rent @ Target Rent   

The equivalent value of a market unit in the scheme as Affordable Rent is 
£151,000.  The commuted sum calculation would be as follows:   

(A) £250,000 - (B) £63,000 = £187,000 

X  

(C) 0.4 x (D) 15 units = 6 units  

Equals £1.11 million.   

If the Council decided to maintain its current basis for calculating commuted 
sums, it could potentially raise more revenue from sites that do not provide on-
site affordable housing.  However, as noted in our 2009 report, high commuted 
sums generated requirements that often exceeded the residual land value 
generated by the schemes.  This necessitated a reduction in the assumed 
affordable housing quantum to recalculate the commuted sum.  Adopting 
Affordable Rent as the basis for calculating commuted sums would generate a 
lower overall contribution, but might be viable in a greater range of 
circumstances.   

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

     

5 Conclusions 
Since we completed our 2009 study, market values in the District have 
increased, although they remain below their peak 2007 level.  With build costs 
largely flat over the same period, there has been an improvement in scheme 
viability.   
  
The reduction in grant announced in last year’s Comprehensive Spending 
Review and presumption of nil grant for Section 106 schemes presents the 
Council with considerable challenges.  Although increasing private sales values 
has helped to increase the ability of schemes to cross subsidise the delivery of 
affordable housing, this is not sufficient to mitigate the loss of grant.  As a 
consequence, sites in high and medium existing use values are unable to meet 
the Council’s 40% target with a policy compliant tenure mix of 75% social rent 
and 25% shared ownership.   
 
The Affordable Rent tenure provides an opportunity for the Council to secure its 
40% target on a wider range of schemes than would otherwise be possible with 
Social Rent.  In modelling Affordable Rent, we have had regard to Local 
Housing Allowances and ensured that our rents do not exceed these levels.  
The result is that rents are capped at lower levels than would otherwise have 
been the case.  There is a very marginal difference in capital values between 
Affordable Rent units at 60%, 70% and 80%, due to the affect of LHA caps.   
  
Despite these caps on rents, Affordable Rent units do have a significantly 
higher capital value than Social Rented units, which helps to improve scheme 
viability.  This is made clear in tables 3.1.1. to 3.1.4, which compare the levels 
of affordable housing that can be secured through Affordable Rent and Social 
Rent.   The 40% target can be achieved on high and medium existing use 
values when sales values are £3,498 per square metre or more.  In contrast, if 
Social Rent were provided, the 40% target could only be achieved if sales 
values were £4,844 per square metre or more.  This exceeds the current range 
of sales values found in the District.  
 
There are, however, circumstances where the 40% affordable housing target 
could be achieved if the 75% social rent to 25% shared ownership tenure split is 
retained.  This could be achieved on sites in low value existing uses.   
 
In light of these variations, the Council could retain the current presumption of 
75% social rent and 25% shared ownership for sites in low value existing uses 
and adopt a tenure split of 75% Affordable Rent and 25% shared ownership on 
sites medium and high value existing use.   
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

     

Appendix 1  Appraisal outputs  
 

[See separate document]  

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

     

Appendix 2  Small sites analysis  
 

[See separate document]  

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	4 Notes of the last informal meeting
	Minutes

	6 Work schedule and dates for South scrutiny meetings
	7 Financial Contributions in lieu of on-site delivery of affordable homes
	APPX1


